学位論文

Accurate Numerical Computation for Floquet Multipliers of Periodic Orbits of Ordinary Differential Equations

常微分方程式の周期軌道と Floquet 乗数の 高精度数値計算

東京大学大学院 新領域創成科学研究科 複雑理工学専攻

濡木 融

2009年3月

Abstract

This thesis describes numerical stability analysis of periodic orbits of ordinary differential equations. Stability of the periodic orbits is determined by eigenvalues of matrix solutions of variational equations corresponding to the orbits. These eigenvalues are called Floquet multipliers. There are some conventional methods to compute periodic orbits and Floquet multipliers. However, it has been reported that these methods may produce inaccurate Floquet multipliers even if periodic orbits are accurate enough. It is because variational equations are solved as an initial value problem for which it is difficult to control numerical errors. Then this thesis proposes an iterative method to solve ordinary differential equations and the corresponding variational equations.

The basic ideas of the proposed method are to construct an iterative method for variational equations using a property of dynamical systems, and to compute Floquet multipliers using eigenvectors of the fundamental matrix of variational equations. The iterative method enables us to control errors of computed results of differential equations, and utilization of eigenvectors reduces round-off errors in the computation of Floquet multipliers.

Numerical examples for the nonlinear Mathieu equations and the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations showed that the proposed method can produce highly accurate results with practical computational costs. The errors of the computed results of differential equations were bounded by 10^{-6} , and Floquet multipliers were much more accurate than those computed by the conventional method.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1	
2	Numerical stability analysis of periodic orbits of ordinary			
	diff	erential equations	9	
	2.1	Stability of periodic orbits and Floquet multipliers	9	
	2.2	The shooting method for periodic orbits	12	
	2.3	Computational methods of Floquet multipliers	16	
3	A new iterative method for periodic orbits and Floquet mul-			
	tipl	iers	21	
	3.1	An iterative method using a property of dynamical systems	21	
	3.2	Improvement of the proposed method using eigenvectors of the		
		fundamental matrix of variational equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	25	
	3.3	Application of the proposed method to autonomous systems $\ .$	31	
	3.4	Accuracy of computed results	33	
4	Nu	merical examples	35	
	4.1	The Mathieu equations	36	
	4.2	The FitzHugh-Nagumo equations	45	
5	Discussions		57	
	5.1	Significance of two ideas in the proposed method	57	
	5.2	Comparison with Lust's method	61	
6	Conclusions 6			

A The periodic Schur decomposition	65
Acknowledgements	69
Bibliography	71

.

Chapter 1 Introduction

This thesis considers numerical stability analysis of periodic orbits of ordinary differential equations. We can examine stability of periodic orbits using Floquet multipliers which are defined by solutions of the corresponding variational equations. There are some conventional numerical methods to compute periodic orbits and its Floquet multipliers. However, those methods may generate erroneous results of Floquet multipliers, even if periodic orbits are computed with enough accuracy. In order to overcome this trouble, we propose an iterative method for the variational equations.

This section introduces background of stability analysis of dynamical systems, and shows the objectives of this work and the basic ideas of the proposed method.

Background of stability analysis of dynamical systems

In the wide range of fields of science and engineering, time variation of phenomena is modeled by ordinary differential equations such as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \boldsymbol{f}(t,\boldsymbol{x}) \quad \text{with} \quad \boldsymbol{x}(t,\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{f}(t+T,\boldsymbol{x}) \quad \text{and} \quad \boldsymbol{x}(t_0) = \boldsymbol{x}_0, \quad (1.1)$$

where $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\boldsymbol{f} : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ is of class C². For example, nerve axon [15,32], population dynamics [42], influence of virus [27,46], electrical

circuits [26, 44], plasma dynamics [34], astro dynamics [9, 10], etc [17, 23]. Generally, solutions of the systems (1.1) with nonlinear vector fields f cannot be solved analytically. Then we try to numerically catch approximate solutions of initial value problems. However, it is well known that nonlinear systems (1.1) can produce quite complex behaviours, namely bifurcation phenomena, with variation of parameters [7, 18, 25, 45]. In order to systematically understand complicated nonlinear phenomena, we consider qualitative changes of invariant sets such as equilibria, periodic orbits, and strange attractors in the state space. Invariant sets can be characterized using stability, stationary distribution, fractal dimensions, Lyapunov exponents, and topological entropy [36, 40]. Various numerical methods for computation of invariant sets [30, 43, 2, 3, 24, 11, 41] and numerical stability analysis of them [12, 14, 19, 22, 31, 37] have been developed.

This thesis considers numerical stability analysis of periodic orbits. Let $\boldsymbol{x}(t)$ denote a periodic orbit with the period T satisfying

$$\boldsymbol{x}(t+T) = \boldsymbol{x}(t) \quad \text{for} \quad \forall t \,. \tag{1.2}$$

It follows from linear stability analysis that a perturbation v(t) of the periodic orbit x(t) can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{v}(t) = \boldsymbol{X}_0(\tau) \, \boldsymbol{v}_0 \,, \tag{1.3}$$

with the matrix solution $X_0(\tau) \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ $(\tau = t - t_0)$ of the corresponding variational equations given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{X}_{0}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{f}}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}}\Big|_{\boldsymbol{t}=\boldsymbol{t}_{0}+\tau, \ \boldsymbol{x}=\varphi_{\boldsymbol{t}_{0}}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x}_{0})} \boldsymbol{X}_{0}(\tau) \quad \text{with} \quad \boldsymbol{X}_{0}(0) = \boldsymbol{I},$$
(1.4)

where I denotes the identity matrix. Eigenvalues λ_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ of the matrix solution $\mathbf{X}_0(T)$ determine stability of the periodic orbit. These eigenvalues are called Floquet multipliers.

There are various commonly used numerical methods to compute periodic orbits of (1.1) and Floquet multipliers such as the finite difference method, the shooting method, and the collocation method [25,8]. Also, some standard bifurcation analysis tools such as AUTO [12] are available. However, it has been reported that these methods can produce incorrect Floquet multipliers under some conditions, even if the periodic orbits are approximated accurately [14,29,31].

Figures 1.1(a) and (b) show examples of computed results of the periodic orbits for the nonlinear Mathieu equations [18] defined by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = y,$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = -(1+p\cos t)\sin x,$$
(1.5)

using one of the conventional methods, the multiple shooting method summarized in Section 2.2. Figure 1.1(a) shows the orbits in the state space and Figure 1.1(b) shows the time series for the parameters p = 2, 20, and40, respectively. Figure 1.2(a) shows the Floquet multipliers λ_1 and λ_2 computed with the conventional method. We can find that the smaller Floquet multiplier λ_2 is computed incorrectly for the parameter p > 20, even if the periodic orbits are computed accurately as shown in Figures 1.1(a) and (b). Note that the ratio of the Floquet multipliers $\frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|}$ ($|\lambda_1| > |\lambda_2|$) drastically increases with p for p < 20. Such systems with large ratio of the Floquet multipliers are called 'stiff'. It is known that it is not straightforward to numerically obtain solutions of 'stiff' equations with enough accuracy, even if systems are theoretically stable. In order to overcome this difficulty for 'stiff' equations, implicit methods such as BDF (Backward Differentiation Formulae) and implicit Runge-Kutta methods [6, 16, 20] are used in general. However, as shown later in Chapter 4, the implicit methods do not improve accuracy of the Floquet multipliers.

Also, algebraic computation of eigenvalues of such $X_0(T)$ causes large round-off errors. Lust developed an improved algorithm to avoid the roundoff errors [29], as shown in Section 2.3. Lust's method divides a periodic orbit into some sub-orbits, and computes the expanding or contraction rates of perturbations on each sub-orbit using the periodic Schur decomposition [4] of $X_0(T)$. Then the Floquet multipliers are obtained as products of those rates. Lust's method produces accurate Floquet multipliers. However, his method cannot control errors of variational equations (1.4). It is because his method solves the variational equations (1.4) as an initial value problem, similarly to the other conventional methods.

Objectives of this work

The objectives of this work are to develop a new method to compute solutions of the variational equations (1.4) and Floquet multipliers with enough accuracy, and to examine effectiveness of the proposed method using some numerical examples. For that, the basic ideas are to construct an iterative method for the variational equations (1.4) and to use eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$ as initial condition of (1.4).

Existing numerical methods for initial value problems can produce inaccurate solutions of variational equations (1.4) and Floquet multipliers [33]. Then we propose an iterative method to solve (1.4) using a general property of solutions of ordinary differential equations, as shown in Chapter 3. This iterative method enables us to control errors of the solutions $X_0(T)$ of the variational equations. On the other hand, when computed Floquet multipliers are incorrect as shown in Figure 1.2(a), some elements of $X_0(T)$ are considerably large. In such a case, a standard computational method of eigenvalues using a transformation of $X_0(T)$ gives incorrect results due to round-off errors, even if the computed $X_0(T)$ is accurate. This work proposes an alternative method to obtain eigenvalues without using the standard methods. It is the key that the initial condition $X_0(0)$ of (1.4) can be set to any non-singular matrix. Using eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$ as initial conditions of (1.4), we can obtain a relation for eigenvalues of $X_0(T)$, namely Floquet multipliers, as shown in Chapter 3. Computation of eigenvalues using this relation reduces the round-off errors.

The outline of this thesis is as follows: Chapter 2 summarizes the conventional numerical methods to compute periodic orbits of ordinary differential equations and Floquet multipliers. Chapter 3 describes a new iterative method for variational equations and an effective method to compute eigenvalues of $X_0(T)$, namely Floquet multipliers. Chapter 4 shows computed results of some numerical examples using the proposed method, and compares those with the conventional methods. Finally, we discuss computed results in Chapter 5, and conclude this thesis in Chapter 6.



Figure 1.1: Computed results of the periodic orbits of the Mathieu equations (1.5) with the multiple shooting method. T: the period. p: the parameter of the equations.



Figure 1.2: Computed results of the Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2) for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (1.5). p: the parameter of the equations.

Chapter 2

Numerical stability analysis of periodic orbits of ordinary differential equations

Stability of periodic orbits is determined by eigenvalues of matrix solutions of the variational equations for the periodic orbit. There are some standard methods to compute periodic orbits and their Floquet multipliers. For example, the shooting method, the finite difference method and the collocation method are often used [39, 25, 8]. The computational method in this work is based on the shooting method. This chapter describes stability of periodic orbits and Floquet multipliers, and summarizes the shooting method to compute them. Also a brief review on Lust's method [29] which improves the conventional methods is given.

2.1 Stability of periodic orbits and Floquet multipliers

This thesis considers nonlinear dynamical systems defined by ordinary differential equations such as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \boldsymbol{f}(t,\boldsymbol{x}), \quad \text{with} \quad \boldsymbol{f}(t,\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{f}(t+T,\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.1)$$

where $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\boldsymbol{f} : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ is of class C². Periodic orbits of the ordinary differential equations (2.1) are defined by solutions $\boldsymbol{x}(t)$ which satisfy

$$\boldsymbol{x}(t+T) = \boldsymbol{x}(t) \,. \tag{2.2}$$

The solution of the non-autonomous system (2.1) with an initial condition $\boldsymbol{x}(t_0) = \boldsymbol{x}_0$ can be written in the form

$$\boldsymbol{x}(t) = \varphi_{t_0}^{t-t_0}(\boldsymbol{x}_0), \qquad (2.3)$$

and the periodic solution x_0 with the period T satisfies

$$\boldsymbol{x}(t_0+T) = \varphi_{t_0}^T(\boldsymbol{x}_0) = \boldsymbol{x}_0.$$
 (2.4)

Substituting a perturbed solution of the periodic orbit, namely,

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}(t) = \boldsymbol{x}(t) + \boldsymbol{v}(t) = \varphi_{t_0}^{t-t_0}(\boldsymbol{x}_0) + \boldsymbol{v}(t) \text{ with } \boldsymbol{v}(t_0) = \boldsymbol{v}_0,$$
 (2.5)

into \boldsymbol{x} in (2.1), we get

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{v}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \boldsymbol{f}(t, \boldsymbol{x}) + \left. \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{f}}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}} \right|_{t, \boldsymbol{x} = \varphi_{t_0}^{t-t_0}(\boldsymbol{x}_0)} \boldsymbol{v}(t) + O(\|\boldsymbol{v}\|^2) \,.$$
(2.6)

Assuming that $\|v\|$ is sufficiently small, we can linearize (2.6) with respect to v(t) and get differential equations for time variation of the perturbation v(t) as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{v}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \left. \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{f}}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}} \right|_{t,\,\boldsymbol{x}=\varphi_{t_0}^{t-t_0}(\boldsymbol{x}_0)} \boldsymbol{v}(t) \quad \text{with} \quad \boldsymbol{v}(t_0) = \boldsymbol{v}_0 \,.$$
(2.7)

These equations are called the variational equations, and the solution v(t) of (2.7) can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{v}(t) = \boldsymbol{X}_0(\tau) \, \boldsymbol{v}_0 \,, \tag{2.8}$$

with the fundamental matrix solution $X_0(\tau) \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ ($\tau = t - t_0$) of (2.7). The matrix $X_0(\tau)$ is a solution of the variational equations given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{X}_{0}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{f}}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}}\Big|_{t=t_{0}+\tau, \ \boldsymbol{x}=\varphi_{t_{0}}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x}_{0})} \boldsymbol{X}_{0}(\tau) \quad \text{with} \quad \boldsymbol{X}_{0}(0) = I, \qquad (2.9)$$

where I denotes the identity matrix. Expansion or contraction of perturbations $v(t_0 + \tau)$ is governed by $X_0(\tau)$. Thus, we can examine stability of the periodic orbit using eigenvalues of $X_0(T)$. These eigenvalues are called Floquet multipliers.

2.2 The shooting method for periodic orbits

Simple shooting method

The simple shooting method is one of standard methods to compute periodic orbits. Let $\boldsymbol{x}(t_0+\tau) = \varphi_{t_0}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x}_0)$ denote a periodic orbit of (2.1) with the period T, which satisfies (2.4), namely,

$$g_0(x_0) := \varphi_{t_0}^T(x_0) - x_0 = 0.$$
(2.10)

For non-autonomous systems (2.1), the period T is given. We can obtain $\varphi_{t_0}^T(\boldsymbol{x}_0)$ by computing (2.1) with the initial condition \boldsymbol{x}_0 using the Runge-Kutta method. The unknown variable is \boldsymbol{x}_0 at a certain time t_0 . The simple shooting method solves \boldsymbol{x}_0 using an iterative method for \boldsymbol{g}_0 in (2.10) such as Newton's method.

Although this method is relatively simple, it is difficult to compute periodic orbits with large period T or large Floquet multipliers. It is because that errors for computation of $\varphi_{t_0}^T(\boldsymbol{x}_0)$ accumulate with time t, and convergence region for \boldsymbol{x}_0 becomes small. For such periodic orbits, the multiple shooting method below is used.

Multiple shooting method

The basic idea of the multiple shooting method [39,25,8] is the same as the simple shooting method, but this method divides a periodic orbit into M+1 sub-orbits such as

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1} = \boldsymbol{x}(t_{k+1}) = \varphi_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}-t_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_k) \quad \text{for} \quad k = 0, 1, \cdots, M,$$
 (2.11)

where $t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_M < t_{M+1} = t_0 + T$ and $\mathbf{x}_{M+1} = \mathbf{x}_0$. Since the period T is given for non-autonomous systems (2.1), each time t_k can be fixed. Equation (2.11) can be rewritten as

$$\boldsymbol{g}_{k}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}) := \varphi_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}-t_{k}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k}) - \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1} = \boldsymbol{0}.$$
(2.12)

The solutions $\varphi_{t_k}^{t_{k_1}-t_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_k)$ in (2.12) are computed on each sub-orbit between the time sections t_k and t_{k+1} with the initial conditions \boldsymbol{x}_k at t_k using the Runge-Kutta method. Using an iterative method for \boldsymbol{g}_k in (2.12), we can obtain approximate solutions of $\{\boldsymbol{x}_k\}_{k=0}^M$. Since each time interval $t_{k+1} - t_k$ of the sub-orbit becomes short with increase of M, we can expect that errors of the computation of $\varphi_{t_k}^{t_{k_1}-t_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_k)$ are reduced.

Figures 1.1(a) and (b) show examples of the computed periodic orbits in the state space and the corresponding time series of the nonlinear Mathieu equations (1.5) for p = 2, 20, and 40, respectively, using this multiple shooting method with M+1 = 50. In order to solve initial value problems on each suborbit, we used the 4th order Runge-Kutta method with the time increment $\Delta t = 0.025$. Figures 2.1(a)-(d) compare the periodic orbits computed by the multiple shooting method with M+1 = 8. As shown in Figure 2.2 too, we can see that the error d_1 of the condition (2.12) is reduced with the iteration number ν increases.



(d) $\nu = 3$, $d_1 = 5.43 \times 10^{-6}$

Figure 2.1: Examples of computed periodic orbits for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (1.5) using the multiple shooting method with M + 1 = 8. ν : the iteration number. d_1 : the error of the condition \boldsymbol{g}_k in (2.12). See (3.10) for details. +: approximate solutions $\boldsymbol{x}_k^{(\nu)}$ of \boldsymbol{x}_k ($k = 0, 1, \dots, 7$) after the ν -th iteration. Dotted line : the best approximate solution with $d_1 = 5.03 \times 10^{-16}$.

(c) $\nu = 2$, $d_1 = 1.92 \times 10^{-3}$

Computational nucleods of Floquet nucl-



Figure 2.2: Errors d_1 of the condition \boldsymbol{g}_k (2.12) for periodic orbits of the nonlinear Mathieu equations (1.5) with p = 2. ν : the iteration number. d_1 : See (3.10) for details.

Buger - V. - North structure of the scalar of the structure and the first structure of a Verse structure of the structure

2.3 Computational methods of Floquet multipliers

In order to examine stability of the periodic orbit with Floquet multipliers, the standard methods compute the solution $X_0(T)$ of the variational equations (2.9) and its eigenvalues. Writing $\tau = t - t_k$ for $k = 0, 1, \dots, M$, we can express the variational equation (2.9) for each sub-orbit as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{X}_{k}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \left. \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{f}}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}} \right|_{t=t_{k}+\tau, \ \boldsymbol{x}=\varphi_{t_{k}}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k})} \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(\tau) \quad \text{with } \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(0) = I \,, \tag{2.13}$$

where $\mathbf{X}_k(\tau) \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ and I denotes the identity matrix. The conventional methods compute the solutions $\mathbf{X}_k(\tau)$ of the variational equations (2.13) with the solutions $\varphi_{t_k}^{\tau}(\mathbf{x}_k)$ of the ordinary differential equations (2.1) on each suborbit. Figure 2.3 shows the concept of the computation with M + 1 = 3. The closed curve denotes a periodic orbit in the state space and the gray areas represent expansion or contraction of perturbations on the sub-orbits, namely, $\mathbf{X}_k(h_k)$ $(h_k = t_{k+1} - t_k)$. Each $\mathbf{X}_k(h_k)$ is computed from $t = t_k$ to t_{k+1} as an initial value problems with an initial condition $\mathbf{X}_k(0) = I$.

Floquet multipliers are eigenvalues of the matrix solution $X_0(T)$ given by

$$\boldsymbol{X}_{0}(T) = \boldsymbol{X}_{M}(h_{M}) \, \boldsymbol{X}_{M-1}(h_{M-1}) \, \cdots \, \boldsymbol{X}_{0}(h_{0}) \, . \tag{2.14}$$

We can numerically get $X_k(h_k)$ using the Runge-Kutta method, and the Floquet multipliers using standard tools for linear algebra such as LAPACK [1]. This is one of the commonly used methods for stability analysis of periodic orbits using the multiple shooting method. Hereafter we call this method "Method 1".

Figure 2.4 shows computed results of the Floquet multipliers for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (1.5) by "Method 1". It is found that "Method 1" inaccurately computes the smaller Floquet multiplier λ_2 for the parameter p > 20. Also, we can find the ratio of the Floquet multipliers $\frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|}$ drastically increases with p for p < 20. It should be noted that the periodic orbit gets closer to the equilibrium \boldsymbol{x}_* at the origin with increase of p, as shown in Figure 1.1(a). The point $\boldsymbol{x}(t)$ on the periodic orbit moves very slowly with time



Figure 2.3: Closed curve : a periodic orbit in the state space. Gray areas : expansion or contraction of perturbations on each sub-orbit between t_k and t_{k+1} , namely, $\mathbf{X}_k(h_k)$.

near the equilibrium \boldsymbol{x}_* and very fast away from \boldsymbol{x}_* . In such cases, it is not straightforward to numerically solve the initial value problems. In addition, we can find that some elements of the matrix $\boldsymbol{X}_0(T)$ are considerably large. Then round-off errors can produce erroneous results of eigenvalues of $\boldsymbol{X}_0(T)$.

As the example in Figure 2.4 illustrates, the conventional method may produce inaccurate numerical results of Floquet multipliers when periodic orbits get closer to equilibria, and ratios of Floquet multipliers $|\lambda_i|/|\lambda_j|$ $(|\lambda_i| > |\lambda_j|)$ increase. We consider that the followings cause this problem:

- In general, it is difficult to control numerical errors of initial value problems of differential equations.
- (ii) When some elements of $X_0(T)$ are large, round-off errors of transformation of $X_0(T)$ in computation of the eigenvalues can lead to erroneous results of Floquet multipliers.

For (ii), Lust proposed the following improved method [29].



Figure 2.4: The Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2) computed with "Method 1" for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (1.5). p: the parameter of the equations.

Lust's method [29]

Lust developed an improved method [29] to obtain accurate Floquet multipliers. This method computes expanding or contracting rates of perturbations on each sub-orbit using transformation of $X_k(h_k)$ by the periodic Schur decomposition [4] of $X_0(T)$ such as

$$\Lambda = Q_0^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_0(T) Q_0$$

= $Q_0^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_M(h_M) \cdots \boldsymbol{X}_1(h_1) \boldsymbol{X}_0(h_0) Q_0$
= $Q_0^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_M(h_M) Q_M \cdots Q_2^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_1(h_1) Q_1 Q_1^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_0(h_0) Q_0$
= $A_M \cdots A_1 A_0$, (2.15)

where $Q_k \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ are orthogonal matrices, and Λ and $A_k = Q_{k+1}^T \mathbf{X}_k(h_k) Q_k$ are upper triangular matrices, respectively. Since the triangular matrix Λ is linearly conjugate to $\mathbf{X}_0(T)$, the eigenvalues of Λ are the same as those of $X_0(T)$. Thus, we can obtain the Floquet multipliers λ_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ as

$$\lambda_j = \Lambda(j, j) = A_M(j, j) \cdots A_1(j, j) A_0(j, j) = \prod_{k=0}^M A_k(j, j) .$$
 (2.16)

Existence of the orthogonal matrices Q_k to transform $X_k(h_k)$ is proved in [4] and construction of Q_k is described in Appendix A.

In this thesis, we call Lust's method "Method 2". Figure 2.5 shows computed results of the Floquet multipliers for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (1.5) using "Method 2". Comparing Figure 2.4 with Figure 2.5, we can find that "Method 2" produces accurate Floquet multipliers even for p > 20, for which the results of "Method 1" are erroneous.

In Lust's method, the variational equations are computed as an initial value problem, similarly to some conventional methods. If the solution $X_0(T)$ of the initial value problem is accurately obtained, then Lust's method is very effective. However, it is not straightforward to control errors of computed results of initial value problems of differential equations. Then, in Chapter 3, we will propose a new iterative method for the variational equations, and an improved method to obtain Floquet multipliers with small round-off errors.



Figure 2.5: The Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2) computed with "Method 2" for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (1.5). p: the parameter of the equations.

Chapter 3

A new iterative method for periodic orbits and Floquet multipliers

In order to overcome troubles in the conventional method shown in Chapter 2, this thesis proposes an improved method based on the following two ideas:

- (I) Construction of an iterative method to solve variational equations using a property of dynamical systems
- (II) Reduction of round-off errors in the computation of Floquet multipliers using eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$ as the initial condition for variational equations

Sections 3.1 and 3.2 describe the ideas (I) and (II), respectively. Section 3.4 shows some indices for accuracy of computed results.

3.1 An iterative method using a property of dynamical systems

The multiple shooting method in Section 2.2 computes periodic solutions $\{x_k\}_{k=0}^M$ such that

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1} = \varphi_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}-t_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_k) \quad \text{for} \quad k = 0, 1, \cdots, M,$$
(3.1)

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{M+1} = \boldsymbol{x}_0, \qquad (3.2)$$

using an iterative method for these conditions. On the other hand, solutions $X_k(h_k)$ $(h_k = t_{k+1} - t_k)$ of the variational equations (2.13) are solved as initial value problems on each sub-orbit between t_k and t_{k+1} . In general, it is difficult to control errors of computed results using standard numerical methods for initial value problems of ordinary differential equations, such as the Runge-Kutta method. This section derives an iterative method for variational equations (2.13) using a property of solutions of differential equations.

First, consider ordinary differential equations (2.1) with an initial condition $\boldsymbol{x}(t_k) = \boldsymbol{x}_k$. The map $\varphi_{t_k}^{\tau}$ of a solution $\boldsymbol{x}(t) = \varphi_{t_k}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x}_k)$ ($\tau = t - t_k$) has the following property:

$$\varphi_{t_k}^{\tau+\sigma} = \varphi_{t_k+\tau}^{\sigma} \circ \varphi_{t_k}^{\tau} \quad \text{for} \quad \tau, \sigma \in \mathbb{R} \,.$$
(3.3)

Note that this property is also used as definition of dynamical systems. The property (3.3) gives the following condition:

$$\varphi_{t_k}^{h_k - s_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_k) = \varphi_{t_k + h_k}^{-s_k} \circ \varphi_{t_k}^{h_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_k) = \varphi_{t_{k+1}}^{-s_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}), \qquad (3.4)$$

with

$$s_k = \rho_k h_k \,, \tag{3.5}$$

where $\rho_k \in [0, 1]$ for $k = 0, 1, \dots, M$. Then we get

$$\boldsymbol{g}_{k}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k},\,\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}) := \varphi_{t_{k}}^{h_{k}-s_{k}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k}) - \varphi_{t_{k+1}}^{-s_{k}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}) = \boldsymbol{0}.$$
(3.6)

Figure 3.1 shows the meaning of this condition. The closed curve denotes a periodic orbit in the state space, and the solid curve represents a sub-orbit between t_k and t_{k+1} . Consider an intermediate point on the sub-orbit, and let s_k denote the time interval from the end at t_{k+1} to the point. Using the Runge-Kutta method, we can compute the intermediate point at $t = t_k + h_k - s_k$ as $\varphi_{t_k}^{h_k - s_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_k)$ or $\varphi_{t_{k+1}}^{-s_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1})$ with the initial conditions \boldsymbol{x}_k or \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1} , respectively. Since these two solutions express the same point, the solutions must be equal to each other (3.4).

22

Periodic orbit in state space



Figure 3.1: Image of the meaning of the condition (3.4) for solutions of ordinary differential equations. Closed curve : a periodic orbit in the state space. Solid curve : a sub-orbit between t_k and t_{k+1} . s_k : the time interval from the end at t_{k+1} to an intermediate point on the sub-orbit. $\varphi_{t_k}^{h_k-s_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_k)$, $\varphi_{t_{k+1}}^{-s_k}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1})$: representations of the intermediate point computed with the initial conditions \boldsymbol{x}_k and \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1} , respectively.

Next, consider variational equations (2.13). Solutions $X_k(\tau) = \Psi_{t_k, x_k}^{\tau}(X_k(0))$ of (2.13) also have the same property as (3.3), namely

$$\Psi_{t_k,\boldsymbol{x}_k}^{\tau+\sigma} = \Psi_{t_k+\tau,\boldsymbol{x}(t_k+\tau)}^{\sigma} \circ \Psi_{t_k,\boldsymbol{x}_k}^{\tau} \quad \text{for} \quad \tau,\sigma \in \mathbb{R} \,.$$

$$(3.7)$$

Similarly to (3.4), this property yields

$$\Psi_{t_k, \boldsymbol{x}_k}^{h_k - s_k}(\boldsymbol{X}_k(0)) = \Psi_{t_k + h_k, \boldsymbol{x}(t_k + h_k)}^{-s_k} \circ \Psi_{t_k, \boldsymbol{x}_k}^{h_k}(\boldsymbol{X}_k(0)) = \Psi_{t_{k+1}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}}^{-s_k}(\boldsymbol{X}_k(h_k)),$$
(3.8)

and it follows that

$$Q_{k}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}, \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(h_{k})) = \Psi_{\boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{h_{k}-s_{k}}(\boldsymbol{X}_{k}(0)) - \Psi_{t_{k+1}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}}^{-s_{k}}(\boldsymbol{X}_{k}(h_{k})) = O,$$
(3.9)

where O denotes the null matrix and $X_k(0)$ is set to the identity matrix $X_k(0) = I$.

Thus, introduction of s_k enables us to solve not only ordinary differential equations (2.1) but also variational equations (2.13) using an iterative method for g_k in (3.6) and Q_k in (3.9). In this work, in order to iteratively obtain the approximate solutions \tilde{x}_k and $\tilde{X}_k(h_k)$, Newton's method is applied to g_k (3.6) and Q_k (3.9) in which φ and Ψ are computed using the Runge-Kutta method. Then the convergence conditions in Newton's method are given by

$$d_1 := \max_{0 \le k \le M} \|\tilde{g}_k\| < \delta_1,$$
(3.10)

and

$$d_2 := \max_{0 \le k \le M} \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{Q}}_k\| < \delta_2, \qquad (3.11)$$

with sufficiently small $\delta_1, \delta_2 > 0$ and

$$\|\tilde{Q}_{k}\| = \|(\tilde{q}_{1}\,\tilde{q}_{2}\,\cdots\,\tilde{q}_{N})\| := \max_{1 \le j \le N} \|\tilde{q}_{j}\|, \qquad (3.12)$$

where \tilde{q}_j denotes the *j*-th column vector of the matrix \tilde{Q}_k . Using the threshold δ , this iterative method enables us to control accuracy for computed results of the ordinary differential equations and the variational equations.

3.2 Improvement of the proposed method using eigenvectors of the fundamental matrix of variational equations

In Section 3.1, in order to control errors of the computed results of variational equations (2.13), we derived an iterative method for (2.13). This section considers reduction of round-off errors in the computation of Floquet multipliers. For that, we can try to suitably choose initial values of variational equations, which can be set to any non-singular matrix. This section shows that choosing eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$ as the initial value helps us reduce the round-off errors.

Let $v_{j,0}$ $(j = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ denote the linearly independent normalized eigenvectors corresponding to the *j*-th Floquet multipliers $\lambda_j \in \mathbb{C}$, namely,

$$\lambda_{j} v_{j,0} = X_{0}(T) v_{j,0}. \qquad (3.13)$$

Consider a solution $v_j(t) = \psi_{t_0,x_0}^{t-t_0}(v_{j,0})$ of (2.7) with the initial value $v_{j,0}$. Write solutions $v_j(t)$ at $t = t_k$ as $v_{j,k} := v_j(t_k) = \psi_{t_0,x_0}^{t_k-t_0}(v_{j,0})$ for $k = 0, 1, \dots, M+1$. Then $v_{j,k-1}$ and $v_{j,k}$ are related by

$$\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k} = \psi_{t_{k-1}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k-1}}^{h_{k-1}}(\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k-1}) = \boldsymbol{X}_{k-1}(h_{k-1})\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k-1}, \qquad (3.14)$$

where $h_k = t_{k+1} - t_k$ and $X_k(h_k)$ is a solution of (2.13). It follows that

$$\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k} = \boldsymbol{X}_{k-1}(h_{k-1})\boldsymbol{X}_{k-2}(h_{k-2})\cdots\boldsymbol{X}_0(h_0).$$
(3.15)

Also, equations (2.14), (3.13), and (3.14) yield

$$\lambda_{j} v_{j,k} = \lambda_{j} X_{k-1}(h_{k-1}) \cdots X_{1}(h_{1}) X_{0}(h_{0}) v_{j,0} = X_{k-1}(h_{k-1}) \cdots X_{1}(h_{1}) X_{0}(h_{0}) (\lambda_{j} v_{j,0}) = X_{k-1}(h_{k-1}) \cdots X_{1}(h_{1}) X_{0}(h_{0}) X_{0}(T) v_{j,0} = X_{k-1}(h_{k-1}) \cdots X_{1}(h_{1}) X_{0}(h_{0}) X_{M}(h_{M}) \cdots X_{k+1}(h_{k+1}) X_{k}(h_{k}) X_{k-1}(h_{k-1}) \cdots X_{1}(h_{1}) X_{0}(h_{0}) v_{j,0} = X_{k}(T) v_{j,k}.$$
(3.16)

Here the following relation is used:

$$\boldsymbol{X}_{k}(T) = \boldsymbol{X}_{k-1}(h_{k-1})\cdots\boldsymbol{X}_{1}(h_{1})\boldsymbol{X}_{0}(h_{0})\boldsymbol{X}_{M}(h_{M})\cdots\boldsymbol{X}_{k+1}(h_{k+1})\boldsymbol{X}_{k}(h_{k}).$$
(3.17)

Equation (3.16) means that the *j*-th Floquet multiplier λ_j is equal to the *j*-th eigenvalue of each $X_k(T)$, and $v_{j,k}$ is the eigenvector corresponding to λ_j .

Note that $\boldsymbol{v}_{j}(t_{0}+T) = \boldsymbol{X}_{0}(T)\boldsymbol{v}_{j,0}$. From equation (3.13), we get

$$\lambda_j \, \boldsymbol{v}_{j,0} = \boldsymbol{X}_0(T) \boldsymbol{v}_{j,0} = \boldsymbol{v}_j(t_0 + T) = \boldsymbol{v}_{j,M+1} = \psi_{t_M,\boldsymbol{x}_M}^{h_M}(\boldsymbol{v}_{j,M}) \,, \qquad (3.18)$$

and

$$\lambda_j = \langle \boldsymbol{v}_{j,0}, \boldsymbol{v}_j(t_0 + T) \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{v}_{j,0}, \boldsymbol{\psi}_{t_M,\boldsymbol{x}_M}^{h_M}(\boldsymbol{v}_{j,M}) \rangle, \qquad (3.19)$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the inner product. This representation (3.19) of the Floquet multiplier enables us to compute the Floquet multiplier λ_j with relatively small round-off errors, even if some elements of the matrix $\mathbf{X}_0(T)$ are considerably large. It is because that (3.19) does not require transformation of $\mathbf{X}_0(T)$ which is commonly used in computation of eigenvalues of a matrix and may cause round-off errors.

In addition, in order to avoid overflow of computed results, we normalize $v_j(t)$ at every $t = t_k$, similarly to the computation of Lyapunov exponents [40], as follows:

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k} = \frac{\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k}\|} \,. \tag{3.20}$$

Then, $u_{j,k+1}$ can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k+1} = \frac{\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k+1}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k+1}\|} = \frac{\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k+1}}{\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{t_k,\boldsymbol{x}_k}^{h_k}(\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k})\|} = \frac{\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k+1}}{\|\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k}\|\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{t_k,\boldsymbol{x}_k}^{h_k}(\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k})\|} .$$
(3.21)

From (3.21), we get

$$\|\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k+1}\| = \|\boldsymbol{v}_{j,k}\| \|\psi_{t_k,\boldsymbol{x}_k}^{h_k}(\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k})\|.$$
(3.22)

26

Using (3.20)-(3.22), we can rewrite (3.19) in the form

$$\lambda_{j} = \left\langle u_{j,0}, \psi_{t_{M}, x_{M}}^{h_{M}}(\|v_{j,M}\|\|u_{j,M}) \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle u_{j,0}, \psi_{t_{M}, x_{M}}^{h_{M}}(u_{j,M}) \right\rangle \|v_{j,M}\|$$

$$= \left\langle u_{j,0}, \frac{\psi_{t_{M}, x_{M}}^{h_{M}}(u_{j,M})}{\|\psi_{t_{M}, x_{M}}^{h_{M}}(u_{j,M})\|} \right\rangle \|\psi_{t_{M}, x_{M}}^{h_{M}}(u_{j,M})\|$$

$$\|\psi_{t_{M-1}, x_{M-1}}^{h_{M-1}}(u_{j,M-1})\| \|v_{j,M-1}\|$$

$$= \left\langle u_{j,0}, \frac{\psi_{t_{M}, x_{M}}^{h_{M}}(u_{j,M})}{\|\psi_{t_{M}, x_{M}}^{h_{M}}(u_{j,M})\|} \right\rangle \prod_{k=0}^{M} \|\psi_{t_{k}, x_{k}}^{h_{k}}(u_{j,k})\|.$$
(3.23)

In order to obtain accurate Floquet multipliers using (3.23), we utilize the idea of the method in Section 3.1, and iteratively compute the normalized eigenvectors $u_{j,k}$ of $X_k(T)$.

Assume that eigenvectors $u_{1,k}, u_{2,k}, \cdots$, and $u_{N,k}$ are linearly independent. Then, any perturbations $v(t_k) = (v_1, v_2, \cdots, v_N)^T \in \mathbb{R}^N$ can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{v}(t_k) = \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \\ \vdots \\ v_N \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{u}_{1,k} & \boldsymbol{u}_{2,k} & \cdots & \boldsymbol{u}_{N,k} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{v}_1 \\ \hat{v}_2 \\ \vdots \\ \hat{v}_N \end{pmatrix} = \hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0) \, \hat{\boldsymbol{v}}(t_k) \,, \quad (3.24)$$

where

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k}(0) = \left(\boldsymbol{u}_{1,k} \ \boldsymbol{u}_{2,k} \ \cdots \ \boldsymbol{u}_{N,k}\right), \qquad (3.25)$$

and $\hat{\boldsymbol{v}}(t_k) = (\hat{v}_1, \hat{v}_2, \cdots, \hat{v}_N)^{\mathrm{T}} \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Write the solution at $t = t_k + \tau$ of (2.13) with the initial condition $\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0)$ as $\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(\tau)$. Then, we get

$$\boldsymbol{v}(t) = \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(\tau) \, \boldsymbol{v}(t_{k})$$

$$= \Psi_{t_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{\tau}(I) \hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k}(0) \, \hat{\boldsymbol{v}}(t_{k})$$

$$= \Psi_{t_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{\tau}(\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k}(0)) \, \hat{\boldsymbol{v}}(t_{k})$$

$$= \hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k}(\tau) \, \hat{\boldsymbol{v}}(t_{k}) \,. \qquad (3.26)$$

Thus, time variation of perturbations can be expressed as linear combination of column vectors of the non-singular matrix $\hat{X}_k(\tau)$. Furthermore, equations (3.14), (3.18)–(3.21) yield

$$\hat{X}_{k}(h_{k}) = \Psi_{t_{k},\boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{h_{k}}(\hat{X}_{k}(0))
= \left(\psi_{t_{k},\boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{h_{k}}(\boldsymbol{u}_{1,k}) \quad \psi_{t_{k},\boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{h_{k}}(\boldsymbol{u}_{2,k}) \quad \cdots \quad \psi_{t_{k},\boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{h_{k}}(\boldsymbol{u}_{N,k})\right)
= \left(\boldsymbol{u}_{1,k+1} \quad \boldsymbol{u}_{2,k+1} \quad \cdots \quad \boldsymbol{u}_{N,k+1}\right) D_{k}
= \hat{X}_{k+1}(0) D_{k} \quad \text{for} \quad k=0, 1, \cdots, M,$$
(3.27)

where $\hat{X}_{M+1}(0) = \hat{X}_0(0)$ and $D_k \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ are the diagonal matrices such that

$$D_k = \operatorname{diag}_{1 \le j \le N} \left\| \psi_{t_k, \boldsymbol{x}_k}^{h_k}(\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k}) \right\|, \qquad (3.28)$$

for $k = 0, 1, \cdots, M-1$ and

$$D_M = \operatorname{diag}_{1 \le j \le N} \langle \boldsymbol{u}_{j,0}, \ \psi_{t_M, \boldsymbol{x}_M}^{h_M}(\boldsymbol{u}_{j,M}) \rangle.$$
(3.29)

Since $\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k}$ and $\psi_{t_k,\boldsymbol{x}_k}^{h_k}(\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k})$ are the *j*-th columns of $\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0)$ and $\Psi_{t_k,\boldsymbol{x}_k}^{h_k}(\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0))$, respectively, D_k depends on \boldsymbol{x}_k and $\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0)$. Then, equation (3.9) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{Q}_{k}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}, \hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k}(0), \hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k+1}(0)) \\ &= \Psi_{t_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{h_{k} - s_{k}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k}(0)) - \Psi_{t_{k+1}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}}^{-s_{k}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k}(h_{k})) \\ &= \Psi_{t_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{h_{k} - s_{k}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k}(0)) - \Psi_{t_{k+1}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}}^{-s_{k}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_{k+1}(0) D_{k}) \\ &= O. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.30)$$

Using an iterative method for (3.6) and (3.30), we can control errors of approximate solutions \boldsymbol{x}_k and $\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0)$, namely, the corresponding eigenvectors $\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k}$ with a threshold δ in (3.10) and (3.11). Also, Floquet multipliers are accurately computed with the approximate solutions of $\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k}$ and equation (3.23). We call this method "Method 3".

We should emphasize that equation (3.30) can be separated to each column $q_{j,k}$ of Q_k . That is, for each j, we can iteratively compute $u_{j,k}$ and $u_{j,k+1}$ using

$$\begin{aligned} q_{j,k}(\boldsymbol{x}_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}, \boldsymbol{u}_{j,k}, \boldsymbol{u}_{j,k+1}) \\ &= \psi_{t_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{h_{k} - s_{k}}(\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k}) - \psi_{t_{k+1}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}}^{-s_{k}}(D_{k}(j, j) \, \boldsymbol{u}_{j,k+1}) \\ &= \psi_{t_{k}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k}}^{h_{k} - s_{k}}(\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k}) - D_{k}(j, j) \, \psi_{t_{k+1}, \boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}}^{-s_{k}}(\boldsymbol{u}_{j,k+1}) \\ &= \mathbf{0} \,. \end{aligned}$$
(3.31)

Therefore, we can obtain each Floquet multiplier independently for each j. This leads to reduction of round-off errors in the computation of Floquet multipliers. In addition, even if eigenvectors $\{u_{j,k}\}$ are not linearly independent, (3.31) enables us to obtain Floquet multipliers of which the total number is less than N.

Finally, we refer to computational costs of this proposed method for simplicity using M+1 = 1, namely, the simple shooting method. Since unknown variables are $\boldsymbol{x}_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_0(0) \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$, the number of the unknown scalar values is $(N + N^2)$. In order to reduce computational costs, in this thesis, we solve the unknown variables \boldsymbol{x}_0 and $\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_0(0)$ separately using Newton's method for \boldsymbol{g}_0 (3.6) and for \boldsymbol{Q}_0 (3.9), respectively. Otherwise, the derivative $\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{Q}_0}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}_0}$ is required in Newton's method, then we must additionally compute N^3 dimensional solutions of differential equations as an initial value problem. Therefore, we separate the proposed method into two steps. First, we compute the periodic solutions \boldsymbol{x}_k using Newton's method for $\boldsymbol{g}_k(3.6)$. Next, we can get Floquet multipliers λ_j and $\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0)$ using Newton's method for $\boldsymbol{Q}_k(3.30)$. Figure 3.2 shows the computation time for periodic orbits and Floquet multipliers of the Mathieu equations (4.1) using the "Method 3". We can see the computation time of the method is reduced using \boldsymbol{g}_k and \boldsymbol{Q}_k separately.



Figure 3.2: Computation time τ [seconds] of "Method 3" for periodic orbits and Floquet multipliers for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (4.1) using both (3.6) and (3.30) simultaneously and separately, respectively. p: the parameter of the equations.

3.3 Application of the proposed method to autonomous systems

The proposed method "Method 3" can be applied to autonomous systems defined by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x}) \tag{3.32}$$

where $f : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ is of class C². For autonomous systems, the time intervals $h_k = t_{k+1} - t_k$ $(k = 0, 1, \dots, M)$ are unknown, and the period T is expressed as

$$T = \sum_{k=0}^{M} h_k \,. \tag{3.33}$$

These intervals h_k must be computed simultaneously with \boldsymbol{x}_k and $\hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0)$ so that (3.6) and (3.30) are satisfied. Since the initial time t_0 can be set arbitrarily, we set $t_0 = 0$. Unknown variables are $\{h_k, \boldsymbol{x}_k, \hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0)\}_{k=0}^M$. The number of the unknown scalar values is $(1+N+N\times N)\times (M+1)$, and is more than the number of equations (3.6) and (3.30). In order to close this problem and determine the unknown variables, we use an additional condition under which each \boldsymbol{x}_k is located on Poincaré sections H_k transverse to the periodic orbit as shown in Figure 3.3. Consider a given approximate solution $\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_k$ of \boldsymbol{x}_k . A section orthogonal to the vector field $\boldsymbol{f}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_k)$ at $\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_k$ is transverse to the periodic orbit when $\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_k$ has enough accuracy. Thus, we can express the additional condition $\boldsymbol{x}_k \in H_k$ as

$$b_k(\boldsymbol{x}_k) = \langle \boldsymbol{x}_k - \tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_k, \ \boldsymbol{f}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_k) \rangle = 0.$$
(3.34)

Using Newton's method for (3.6) and (3.30) with (3.34), we can iteratively obtain approximate solutions of $\{h_k, \boldsymbol{x}_k, \hat{\boldsymbol{X}}_k(0)\}_{k=0}^M$, and from (3.33) we can determine t_k and the period T.

3.3 Appinetion of the proposed method to a document syntemy

The product surface shedoed 3° nearbs applied to surface province shows the second s



Figure 3.3: The additional condition (3.34) of the multiple shooting method for autonomous systems. Closed curve : a periodic orbit in the state space. H_k (k = 1, 2, 3) : Poincaré sections transverse to the periodic orbit.

Other Sources are dead State (4.0 model [2, 0]) with (4.0 kpc are pure based train shown expression are colliner and $M_{1,2} = -5 \cdot (0)$] $Z_{1,2}$ and from (3.171 we conbasendore to the formula X^{2}

32

3.4 Accuracy of computed results

As stated in Section 3.2, the *j*-th Floquet multiplier λ_j is equal to the *j*-th eigenvalue $\lambda_{j,k}$ $(k = 0, 1, \dots, M)$ of (3.17). However, numerical results of $\lambda_{j,k}$ may be different from each other. Thus we can use

$$R(\lambda_j) = \frac{1}{\max_{0 \le k \le M} |\lambda_{j,k}|} \left| \max_{0 \le k \le M} \lambda_{j,k} - \min_{0 \le k \le M} \lambda_{j,k} \right|, \qquad (3.35)$$

as an index of accuracy of the computed Floquet multipliers.

Additionally, for autonomous systems, one of the Floquet multipliers λ_u must be equal to unity [36,31]. Thus we can use

$$E(\lambda_{\mathbf{u}}) = \max_{0 \le k \le M} |\lambda_{\mathbf{u},k} - 1|, \qquad (3.36)$$

as an index of error of numerical results of λ_{u} .

Using these indices $R(\lambda_j)$ and $E(\lambda_u)$, we will compare accuracy of Floquet multipliers computed by "Method 1", "Method 2", and "Method 3".
Chapter 4

Numerical examples

As shown in Chapter 2, the conventional method "Method 1" can compute inaccurate Floquet multipliers when periodic orbits get closer to equilibria. This chapter compares numerical examples computed with "Method 1", "Method 2", and "Method 3". The first example is a two dimensional nonautonomous system defined by the nonlinear Mathieu equations [18, 13, 38]. Next, we show the results of a three dimensional autonomous system defined by the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations [15, 32]. In the computations with "Method 3", s_k (3.5) in (3.6) and (3.30) is fixed to $\frac{h_k}{2}$. We may expect that suitable choice of s_k can improve computed results, but this is left for future works. Eigenvalues and eigenvectors of $X_k(T)$ (3.17) were computed with "geev" of LAPACK [1]. The eigenvalues are the results of Floquet multipliers with "Method 1", and the eigenvectors are used as initial approximate solutions of "Method 3".

Using indices $R(\lambda_j)$ (3.35) and $E(\lambda_u)$ (3.36) in Section 3.4, we compare accuracy of the computed Floquet multipliers. Also, we check errors of the conditions (3.10) and (3.11) for the periodic orbits and the solutions of the corresponding variational equations, respectively.

4.1 The Mathieu equations

The nonlinear Mathieu equations [18, 13, 38] are given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = y,$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = -(q + p\cos t)\sin x,$$
(4.1)

where p is the free parameter and q is set to 1 in this thesis. These equations are a mathematical model for prametrically excited nonlinear oscillation, for example, the forced motion of a swing [5], vibration of elastic cables [35], the seesaw oscillator [28], oscillatory motion of a ship [38], etc. Note that this system has an equilibrium x_* at the origin in the state space (x, y).

Figures 4.1(a) and (b) show the computed periodic orbits with the period $T = 2\pi$ in the state space and the corresponding time series for p = 2, 20, and 40, respectively. We can find that the periodic orbit gets closer to the equilibrium \boldsymbol{x}_* with increase of p, and that the point $\boldsymbol{x}(t)$ on the periodic orbit moves very slowly with time near \boldsymbol{x}_* and quickly away from \boldsymbol{x}_* .

In these computations, the proposed method "Method 3" with M+1 = 100, $t_k = \frac{T}{M+1}k$, and $h_k = t_{k+1} - t_k = \frac{T}{M+1}$ ($k = 0, 1, \dots, M$) are used. The thresholds δ_1 and δ_2 of the convergence conditions (3.10) and (3.11) of "Method 3" are set to $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = 10^{-6}$. Initial value problems of the ordinary differential equations (2.1) and the corresponding variational equations (2.13) are numerically solved using the 4-th order explicit Runge-Kutta method with the time increment $\Delta t = 0.025$. The conventional multiple shooting method "Method 1" also produced accurate enough results of the periodic orbits.

Figure 4.2 shows the computed Floquet multipliers using "Method 1". The ratio of the Floquet multipliers $\frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|}$ ($|\lambda_1| > |\lambda_2|$) becomes considerably large as the periodic orbit gets closer to the equilibrium \boldsymbol{x}_* with increase of p. Then, "Method 1" gives inaccurate Floquet multiplier λ_2 , even if the corresponding periodic orbit is accurately computed.

We may expect that some commonly used implicit methods for initial value problems of ordinary differential equations improve accuracy of computed results of Floquet multipliers. Figures 4.3(a) and (b) show the computed Floquet multipliers using "Method 1" with the implicit Runge-Kutta methods called the 3rd order RadauIIA method and the 4th order LobattoI-IIA method, respectively [6, 16, 20]. Figures 4.4(a) and (b) show the index of error $R(\lambda_j)$ defined by(3.35) for "Method 1" with the 4th order explicit Runge-Kutta method and with the 4th order RadauIIA method, respectively. In both cases, $R(\lambda_2)$ for the smaller Floquet multiplier λ_2 increases with p. These results indicate that the implicit methods do not help us obtain accurate Floquet multiplier λ_2 .

Figures 4.5(a) and (b) show that both Lust's method "Method 2" and the proposed method "Method 3" compute Floquet multipliers accurately. Lust's method "Method 2" uses $\delta_Q = 10^{-6}$ as the threshold δ_Q (A.5) for the periodic Schur decomposition of $X_k(T)$ (3.17).

Figures 4.6(a) and (b) show the index of error $R(\lambda_j)$. The results indicate that $R(\lambda_j)$ for "Method 2" are less than 10^{-5} , and that $R(\lambda_j)$ for "Method 3" are almost zero. Also we can see that $R(\lambda_j)$ of "Method 2" are large when p is small. From these, we can say that the results of the proposed method "Method 3" are more accurate than Lust's method "Method 2". We will discuss the results of Lust's method in Chapter 5 in more detail.

Figures 4.7(a) and (b) show errors d_1 (3.10) and d_2 (3.11) for "Method 3", respectively. We can see that the errors of the computed results of "Method 3" are bounded by the thresholds $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = 10^{-6}$.





Figure 4.1: Computed results of the periodic orbits of the nonlinear Mathieu equations (4.1) with "Method 3". T: the period. p: the parameter of the equations.



Figure 4.2: The Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2) computed with "Method 1" for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (4.1). For initial value problems of differential equations, the 4th order explicit Runge-Kutta method with the time increment $\Delta t = 0.025$ is used. p: the parameter of the equations.



Figure 4.3: Comparison of the computed Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2) for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (4.1) with the implicit Runge-Kutta methods called the 3rd order RadauIIA and the 4th order LobattoIIIa, respectively. The time increment Δt of the methods is set to $\Delta t = 0.025$. p: the parameter of the equations.



(a) 4th order Explicit Runge-Kutta



(b) 4th order Implicit Runge-Kutta (LobattoIIIA)

Figure 4.4: Comparison of accuracy of the numerical results of the Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2) by "Method 1" with the implicit methods for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (4.1). $R(\lambda_j)$: See (3.35). p: the parameter of the equations.



Figure 4.5: Comparison of the computed Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2) by "Method 2" and "Method 3" for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (4.1). For initial value problems of differential equations, the 4th order explicit Runge-Kutta method with $\Delta t = 0.025$ is used. p: the parameter of the equations.



(a) "Method 2"



(b) "Method 3"

Figure 4.6: Comparison of accuracy of the computed results of the Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2) by "Method 2" and "Method 3" for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (4.1). $R(\lambda_j)$: See (3.35). p: the parameter of the equations.



(a) Errors d_1 for the periodic orbits



(b) Errors d_2 for the variational equations

Figure 4.7: Errors d_1 (3.10) and d_2 (3.11) for the convergence conditions of Newton's method in "Method 3" for the nonlinear Mathieu equations (4.1). p: the parameter of the equations. δ_1 , δ_2 : threholds for the errors d_1 and d_2 , respectively.

4.2 The FitzHugh-Nagumo equations

The FitzHugh-Nagumo equations [15, 32] are given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = y,$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = qy + x (x-1)(x-p) + z,$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}z}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{r}{q}x.$$
(4.2)

This is a simplified model of Hodgkin-Huxley equations [21] which describes excitation dynamics of nerve axon. This model (4.2) has an equilibrium \boldsymbol{x}_* at the origin in the state space (x, y, z). In the following computations, pis used as the free parameter, and q and r are set to q = 0.28288600873and r = 0.0025, respectively. We computed periodic orbits near \boldsymbol{x}_* using the proposed method "Method 3" with M+1 = 100 and thresholds $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = 10^{-6}$. For initial value problems of differential equations in the iterative method, the 4th order explicit Runge-Kutta method with the time increment $\Delta t = 0.05$ was used.

Figures 4.8(a) and (b) show the computed periodic orbits, and the corresponding time series of equations (4.2) for p = -0.015, 0.01, and 0.015. Similarly to the results of the Mathieu equations, the point $\boldsymbol{x}(t)$ on the periodic orbit moves very slowly with time near the equilibrium \boldsymbol{x}_* and very fast away from \boldsymbol{x}_* .

Figure 4.9 shows the computed Floquet multipliers λ_1 , λ_2 , and λ_3 ($|\lambda_1| \geq |\lambda_2| \geq |\lambda_3|$) using the proposed method "Method 3". It was found that this result is almost the same as that using the conventional shooting method "Method 1" and that using Lust's method "Method 2" in this figure. We can see that the ratios $\frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_2|}$ and $\frac{|\lambda_1|}{|\lambda_3|}$ rapidly increase with p. Here note that one of the Floquet multipliers λ_u of this autonomous system must be equal to unity [36,31]. In this case, the corresponding eigenvalue λ_u is λ_2 .

Figures 4.10(a) and (b) compare the index of error $R(\lambda_j)$ (3.35) of the "Method 1" using the 4th order explicit Runge-Kutta method and the 4th order implicit Runge-Kutta method, respectively. The time increment Δt is $\Delta t = 0.05$. Similarly to the computed results of the Mathieu equations, the

implicit method for initial value problems with a sufficiently small threshold $\delta_1 = 10^{-12}$, does not help us obtain accurate Floquet multipliers.

Figures 4.11(a) and 4.12(a) show the computed Floquet multipliers using Lust's method "Method 2" and the proposed method "Method 3", respectively. It is found that the index of error $R(\lambda_j)$ of "Method 2" and "Method 3" are less than 10⁻⁵. Furthermore, Figures 4.11(b) and 4.12(b) show that, with smaller thresholds $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = \delta_Q = 10^{-12}$, both methods reduce $R(\lambda_j)$ less than 10⁻¹¹. Since the periodic Schur decomposition for autonomous systems is constructed such that $\lambda_u = \lambda_2 = 1$ as shown in Appendix A, $R(\lambda_2)$ of "Method 2" is not displayed in the figures.

Figures 4.13(a) and (b) compare the error $E(\lambda_u)$ of "Method 1" with that of "Method 3". We can see that $E(\lambda_u)$ can be reduced using "Method 3" with smaller time increment Δt of the Runge-Kutta method, but not using "Method 1".

Figures 4.14(a) and (b) show the errors d_1 (3.10) and d_2 (3.11) for the convergence conditions of "Method 3", respectively. Figures 4.15(a) and (b) show the iteration number ν . The thresholds δ_1 and δ_2 are set to $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = 10^{-12}$. It is found that the proposed method "Method 3" enables us to control accuracy of not only the periodic orbits but also the solutions of the variational equations with a few iterations, even for considerably small thresholds.

Finally, Figure 4.16 compares computation time for the periodic orbits and Floquet multipliers. In this figure, $\tau_A + \tau_1$, $\tau_A + \tau_2$, and $\tau_B + \tau_3$ represent the total computation time of the conventional shooting method "Method 1", Lust's method "Method 2", and the proposed method "Method 3", respectively. These results show that the proposed method "Method 3" can produce accurate Floquet multipliers in practical computation time.



Figure 4.8: Computed results of the periodic orbits of the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2) with "Method 3". p: the parameter of the equations. T: the period.



Figure 4.9: The Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2, 3) computed with "Method 3" for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2). p: the parameter of the equations.



(a) 4th order explicit Runge-Kutta



(b) 4th order implicit Runge-Kutta (LobattoIIIA)

Figure 4.10: Comparison of accuracy of the numerical results of the Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2, 3) by "Method 1" for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2). For initial value problems of differential equations, (a) the 4th order explicit Runge-Kutta method and (b) the 4th order implicit Runge-Kutta method called LobattoIIIA are used. $R(\lambda_j)$: see (3.35). p: the parameter of the equations.



(a) $\delta_1 = \delta_Q = 10^{-6}$



Figure 4.11: Comparison of accuracy of the numerical results of the Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2, 3) by "Method 2" for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2). δ_1 : see (3.10). δ_Q : see (A.5). $R(\lambda_j)$: see (3.35). p: the parameter of the equations.



(a) $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = 10^{-6}$



Figure 4.12: Comparison of accuracy of the numerical results of the Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2, 3) by "Method 3" for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2). δ_1 , δ_2 : see (3.10) and (3.11), respectively. $R(\lambda_j)$: see (3.35). p: the parameter of the equations.



р

(a) "Method 1"



(b) "Method 3"

Figure 4.13: Comparison of errors of the unit Floquet multiplier $\lambda_u (= \lambda_2)$ for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2) by "Method 1" and by "Method 3". Δt : the time increment of the 4th order explicit Runge-Kutta method. $E(\lambda_u)$: the error defined by (3.36). p: the parameter of the equations.



(a) Error d_1 of the condition for periodic orbits



(b) Error d_2 of the condition for variational equations

Figure 4.14: Errors of the convergence conditions of Newton's method in "Method 3" for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2). d_1, d_2 : see (3.10) and (3.11), respectively. p: the parameter of the equations.



Figure 4.15: The iteration number ν of "Method 3" with $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = 10^{-12}$ for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2). p: the parameter of the equations.



Figure 4.16: Comparison of computation time τ [seconds] for periodic orbits and Floquet multipliers of the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2). τ_A : computation time for the periodic orbits using "Method 1" and "Method 2". τ_B : computation time for the periodic orbits using "Method 3". τ_1, τ_2, τ_3 : computation time for the Floquet multipliers using "Method 1", "Method 2", and "Method 3", respectively. p: the parameter of the equations.

Chapter 5

Discussions

5.1 Significance of two ideas in the proposed method

The proposed method is based on two main ideas, (I) construction of the iterative method for variational equations and (II) reduction of round-off errors in the computation of Floquet multipliers using eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$ as the initial condition of variational equations. Although these two ideas (I) and (II) are separately described in Sections 3.1 and 3.2, it should be emphasized that both (I) and (II) are required for accurate computation of Floquet multipliers. Actually, in Section 3.2, eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$ are computed using the iterative algorithm for variational equations. The followings indicate significance of both ideas (I) and (II) in the proposed method.

We can compute Floquet multipliers without using eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$, namely "Method 3 without eigenvectors". Figure 5.1(a) shows the computed results of Floquet multipliers for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2) using "Method 3 without eigenvectors" in which variational equations are iteratively solved. Although $X_0(T)$ is accurately computed, the results using "Method 3 with eigenvectors" shown in Figure 5.1(b) are more accurate than "Method 3 without eigenvectors". Thus reduction of the round-off errors using eigenvectors is critical in the proposed method.

On the other hand we can compute Floquet multipliers without using

.

58

the iterative method for variational equations, namely "Method 3 without iteration". Figure 5.2(a) shows the computed results of Floquet multipliers for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2) using "Method 3 without iteration" in which eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$ are used the initial condition of variational equations. Although utilization of eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$ reduces the roundoff errors, the results using "Method 3 with iteration" in Figure 5.2(b) are more accurate than "Method 3 without iteration". It is because we cannot control the errors of solutions of the variational equations without iteration. From these, we can see that the iterative computation of variational equations is essentially important in the proposed method.



(a) "Method 3 without eigenvectors"



(b) "Method 3 with eigenvectors"

Figure 5.1: Comparison of accuracy of the numerical results of the Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2, 3) for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2) . p: the parameter of the equations. $R(\lambda_j)$: see (3.35).



(a) "Method 3 without iteration"





Figure 5.2: Comparison of accuracy of the numerical results of the Floquet multipliers λ_j (j = 1, 2, 3) for the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations (4.2) . p: the parameter of the equations. $R(\lambda_j)$: see (3.35).

5.2 Comparison with Lust's method

Lust's method improves some other conventional methods. For example, Figure 4.5(a) shows that Lust's method "Method 2" produces accurate results for p > 20 of the nonlinear Mathieu equations (4.1) which the conventional shooting method "Method 1" cannot solve correctly. However, Figure 4.6(a) shows that the index $R(\lambda_j)$ (3.35) of error of Floquet multipliers computed by Lust's method "Method 2" is large for small p near the bifurcation point. That is, the computed results using Lust's method can be erroneous near the bifurcation point. We can consider the reason as follows:

The idea of Lust's method is to use the periodic Schur decomposition of matrix solutions of variational equations as shown in Appendix A. Then the variational equations are solved as an initial value problem until the orthogonal matrices Q_k converge. Since the transient state is long near bifurcation points in general, it takes time for Q_k to converge and the errors of the computed results accumulate due to long time calculation of the initial value problem. This results in the errors in Figure 4.6(a).

On the other hand, the proposed method "Method 3" iteratively solves the variational equations using Newton's method. Consequently, the computed results using "Method 3" are accurate enough even near the bifurcation as shown in Figure 4.6(b).

Chapter 6 Conclusions

This thesis has considered numerical stability analysis of periodic orbits of ordinary differential equations, and proposed a new method to compute Floquet multipliers with enough accuracy. The basic ideas of the proposed method are to construct an iterative method to compute the variational equations, and to utilize eigenvectors of the matrix solution $X_0(T)$ of the variational equations. Numerical examples showed effectiveness of the proposed method.

The followings summarize each chapter:

Chapter 2 introduced the conventional method to numerically investigate stability of periodic orbits of non-autonomous ordinary differential equations given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \boldsymbol{f}(t,\boldsymbol{x}) \quad \text{with} \quad \boldsymbol{f}(t,\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{f}(t+T,\boldsymbol{x}). \tag{6.1}$$

We can examine stability of periodic orbits $\boldsymbol{x}(t) = \varphi_{t_0}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x}_0)$ with the period T using the variational equations

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{X}_{0}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = \left. \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{f}}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}} \right|_{t_{0}+\tau, \, \boldsymbol{x}=\varphi_{t_{0}}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x}_{0})} \boldsymbol{X}_{0}(\tau) \quad \text{with} \quad \boldsymbol{X}_{0}(0) = \boldsymbol{I} \,.$$
(6.2)

Eigenvalues of $X_0(T)$, namely Floquet multipliers, determine stability of the periodic orbit. The proposed method is based on the shooting method which is one of the commonly used methods. It was shown using numerical examples

that the shooting method and the standard method to obtain eigenvalues of $X_0(T)$ can produce inaccurate results when the periodic orbit passes near the equilibrium point or the ratio of the maximum Floquet multiplier to the minimum one is very large. These computational errors are due to the numerical method for the variational equations and round-off errors in the computation of eigenvalues of $X_0(T)$.

Chapter 3 proposed a new method to numerically obtain Floquet multipliers. The basic ideas are to construct an iterative method for the variational equations, and to utilize eigenvalues of $X_0(T)$ as the initial condition of the variational equations. The iterative method enables us to control errors of the computed results of the variational equations. Utilization of eigenvalues of $X_0(T)$ reduces the round-off errors in the computation of Floquet multipliers.

Chapter 4 showed some computed results for the nonlinear Mathieu equations and the FitzHugh-Nagumo equations. Comparison with the conventional methods indicated that the proposed method can yield Floquet multipliers with enough accuracy and practical computational cost.

Chapter 5 discusses significance of the two main ideas of the proposed method and compares the proposed method with Lust's method. Numerical examples illustrate the importance of the ideas to accurately compute Floquet multipliers.

In this thesis, accuracy of computed Floquet multipliers is examined using some indices given by necessary conditions of them. However, the indices are not sufficient to verify accuracy of numerical results. We may further investigate accuracy of numerical solutions using the proposed method, for example, following the idea of numerical verification methods [41,39,8]. This remains as future works. Also, the eigenvectors of $X_0(T)$ can be used in approximation of (un)stable manifolds of the periodic orbits. We expect to apply the proposed method for computation of (un)stable manifolds.

Appendix A

The periodic Schur decomposition

An upper triangular matrix $\Lambda = Q_0^T X_0(T) Q_0$ with an orthogonal matrix Q_0 is linearly conjugate to a matrix $X_0(T) \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ (2.14) which is the matrix product of $X_k(h_k)$ $(k = 0, 1, \dots, M)$. Using orthogonal matrices Q_k $(k = 0, 1, \dots, M)$, the periodic Schur decomposition [4] of $X_0(T)$ represents the conjugate matrix Λ as the matrix product of upper triangular matrices $A_k \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ such as

$$\Lambda = Q_0^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_0(T) Q_0$$

= $Q_0^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_M(h_M) \cdots \boldsymbol{X}_1(h_1) \boldsymbol{X}_0(h_0) Q_0$
= $Q_0^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_M(h_M) Q_M \cdots Q_2^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_1(h_1) Q_1 Q_1^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_0(h_0) Q_0$
= $A_M \cdots A_1 A_0$, (A.1)

where

$$A_{k} = Q_{k+1}^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(h_{k}) Q_{k} \quad \text{for} \quad k = 0, 1, \cdots, M - 1, \qquad (A.2)$$

and

$$A_M = Q_0^{\mathrm{T}} \boldsymbol{X}_M(h_M) Q_M \,. \tag{A.3}$$

The orthogonal matrices Q_k are constructed by the following steps.

- (i) Construct an arbitrarily orthogonal matrix $Q_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$.
- (ii) Using Gram-Schmidt orthonormalization, decompose $X_k(h_k) Q_k$ such as

$$\boldsymbol{X}_k(h_k) \, Q_k = Q_{k+1} \, A_k \tag{A.4}$$

for $k = 0, 1, \dots, M$.

(iii) If the following convergence condition between Q_{M+1} and Q_0 is satisfied, finish the iteration and recompute A_M as (A.3), or else, substitute Q_{M+1} into Q_0 and return step (ii).

The convergence condition in step (iii) is given as follows. Let $\boldsymbol{w}_{j,M+1}$ and $\boldsymbol{w}_{j,0}$ denote the *j*-th columns $(j = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ of Q_{M+1} and Q_0 , respectively. This iteration is continued until $\boldsymbol{w}_{j,M+1}$ becomes oriented to the same direction of $\boldsymbol{w}_{j,0}$ except for the sign, namely, the convergence condition is given as

$$d_Q := \max_{1 \le j \le N} \|\boldsymbol{w}_{j,M+1} - \operatorname{sign}(\langle \boldsymbol{w}_{j,0}, \, \boldsymbol{w}_{j,M+1} \rangle) \, \boldsymbol{w}_{j,0}\| < \delta_Q \,, \tag{A.5}$$

for sufficiently small $\delta_Q > 0$ where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the inner product.

It should be noted that $X_k(h_k) Q_k = \Psi_{t_k, x_k}^{h_k}(Q_k)$, namely solutions of the variational equations (2.13) with the initial condition Q_k . The computation of $\Psi_{t_k, x_k}^{h_k}(Q_k)$ is iterated in (i), (ii), and (iii) until Q_k are converged so that the condition (A.5) is satisfied. Then, the 1st vector $\boldsymbol{w}_{1,k}$ of Q_k is most expanded to the direction of the eigenvector for the largest Floquet multiplier, namely, the largest eigenvalue of $X_k(T)$.

The method above is available for both of non-autonomous systems and autonomous systems, but for autonomous systems, we can set more accurate 1st vectors $\boldsymbol{w}_{1,k}$ using a theoretical property. The property is that perturbations directed to the vector field \boldsymbol{f} (3.32) is not expanded or contracted on the trajectory. Write a solution $\boldsymbol{x}(t)$ with an initial condition $\boldsymbol{x}(t_k) = \boldsymbol{x}_k$ as $\boldsymbol{x}(t) = \varphi_{t_k}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x}_k)$ ($\tau = t - t_k$). Then, it follows that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\varphi_{t_k}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x}_k)}{\mathrm{d}t}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x}(t)) = \frac{\partial\varphi_{t_k}^{\tau}(\boldsymbol{x})}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}}\Big|_{\boldsymbol{x}=\boldsymbol{x}_k} \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x}_k) = \boldsymbol{X}_k(\tau)\boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x}_k), \qquad (A.6)$$

66

and this property gives

$$\boldsymbol{f}_{k+1} = \boldsymbol{X}_k(h_k)\boldsymbol{f}_k\,,\tag{A.7}$$

where f_k denotes $f(x_k)$. Therefore, we can select the orthogonal matrices Q_k as

$$Q_k = \begin{pmatrix} \underline{f_k} & S_k \end{pmatrix}, \tag{A.8}$$

where $S_k \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times (N-1)}$ are orthonormal matrices. With minor modifications of steps (i), (ii), (iii), we can iteratively obtain appropriate S_k as follows.

(i') Construct an arbitrarily S_0 orthonormal to f_0 so that Q_0 is orthogonal.

(ii') Using Gram-Schmidt orthonormalization, decompose $X_k(h_k)Q_k$ as

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(h_{k}) Q_{k} &= \left(\frac{1}{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k}\|} \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(h_{k}) \boldsymbol{f}_{k} \quad \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(h_{k}) S_{k}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k}\|} \boldsymbol{f}_{k+1} \quad \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(h_{k}) S_{k}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k+1}\|}{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k}\|} \frac{\boldsymbol{f}_{k+1}}{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k+1}\|} \quad \boldsymbol{X}_{k}(h_{k}) S_{k}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{f}_{k+1}}{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k+1}\|} \quad S_{k+1}\right) \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k+1}\|}{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k}\|} & \boldsymbol{b}_{k}^{\mathrm{T}} \\ 0 & B_{k} \end{pmatrix} \\ &= Q_{k+1} A_{k}, \end{aligned}$$
(A.9)

where $B_k \in \mathbb{R}^{(N-1)\times(N-1)}$ are upper triangular matrices and $b_k \in \mathbb{R}^{(N-1)}$ for $k = 0, 1, \dots, M$.

(iii') If the convergence condition (A.5) is satisfied, finish the iteration and recompute A_M as (A.3), or else substitute S_{M+1} into S_0 and return step (ii').

As stated in Section 2.3, we can compute each Floquet multiplier λ_j as j-th eigenvalue of the conjugate matrix Λ , namely, the product of elements $A_k(j, j)$ of the upper triangular matrices A_k . It should be noted that this decomposition of $X_0(T)$ for autonomous systems gives the unit Floquet multiplier λ_u as

$$\lambda_{u} = \prod_{k=0}^{M} A_{k}(1,1) = \prod_{k=0}^{M} \frac{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k+1}\|}{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{k}\|} = \frac{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{M+1}\|}{\|\boldsymbol{f}_{0}\|} = 1.$$
(A.10)

Acknowledgements

The author would especially like to thank Professor Sunao Murashige at Future University-Hakodate for his frequent encouragements and suggestions over five long years. During this time, the author received continuous guidance to explore the numerical analysis of nonlinear dynamical systems.

The author would also like to express his gratitude to Professor Hirosuke Yamamoto at the University of Tokyo for his full support during the author's doctoral research. This work could not have been accomplished without his support.

In addition, the author is grateful to the other University of Tokyo faculty members who served on the author's doctoral committee – Professor Mitsuhiro Toriumi, Professor Masato Okada, and Associate Professor Takayasu Matsuo. Their valuable suggestions are deeply appreciated and contributed to the writing of this thesis.

The author appreciates the comments and discussions from the many members of the laboratory. In particular, to fellow doctoral students Mr. Elliot T. Taniguchi and Mr. Kunihiko Harada.

Finally, the author thanks his parents for supporting for his education.

Bibliography

- E. Anderson, A. McKenney, D. Sorensen, Z. Bai, C. Bischof, L. Blackford, J. Demmel, J. Dongarra, J. Du Croz, S. Hammarling, *et al.*, LA-PACK Users' guide, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics Philadelphia, PA, USA, 1999.
- [2] A. Baker, M. Dellnitz, and O. Junge, "A topological method for rigorously computing periodic orbits using Fourier modes," Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems, Series B, vol.13, no.4, pp.901–920, 2005.
- W. Beyn, "The numerical computation of connecting orbits in dynamical systems," IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis, vol.10, no.3, pp.379–405, 2003.
- [4] A. Bojanczyk, G. Golub, and P. van Dooren, "The periodic Schur decomposition: algorithms and applications," Proceedings of the SPIE — The International Society for Optical Engineering, vol.1770, pp.31–42, 1992.
- [5] J. Burns, "More on Pumping a Swing," American Journal of Physics, vol.38, p.920, 1970.
- [6] J. Butcher, "A stability property of implicit Runge-Kutta methods," BIT Numerical Mathematics, vol.15, no.4, pp.358-361, 1975.
- [7] S. Chow and J. Hale, Methods of bifurcation theory, volume 251 of Grundlehren Math. Wiss, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1982.
- [8] B. Coomes, H. Koçak, and K. Palmer, "Long periodic shadowing," Numerical Algorithms, vol.14, no.1, pp.55-78, 1997.

- [9] M. Dellnitz, O. Junge, W. Koon, F. Lekien, M. Lo, J. Marsden, K. Padberg, R. Preis, S. Ross, and B. Thiere, "Transport in dynamical astronomy and multibody problems," International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos, vol.15, no.3, pp.699–727, 2005.
- [10] M. Dellnitz, O. Junge, M. Lo, and B. Thiere, "On the detection of energetically efficient trajectories for spacecraft," Advances in the Astronautical Sciences, 2002.
- [11] M. Dellnitz, K. Padberg, M. Post, and B. Thiere, "Set Oriented Approximation of Invariant Manifolds: Review of Concepts for Astrodynamical Problems," AIP Conference Proceedings, vol.886, pp.90–99, 2007.
- [12] E. Doedel, A. Champneys, T. Fairgrieve, Y. Kuznetsov, B. Sandstede, and X. Wang, "AUTO97: Continuation and bifurcation software for ordinary differential equations (with HomCont)," Concordia University, Montreal, Canada, 1998.
- [13] Y. El-Dib, "Nonlinear Mathieu equation and coupled resonance mechanism," Chaos, Solitons and Fractals, vol.12, no.4, pp.705–720, 2001.
- [14] T. Fairgrieve and A. Jepson, "OK Floquet Multipliers," SIAM J. Numel. Anal., vol.28, no.5, pp.1446-1462, 1991.
- [15] R. FitzHugh, "Impulses and physiological states in theoretical models of nerve membrane," Biophys. J., vol.1, no.6, p.445, 1961.
- [16] R. Frank, J. Schneid, and C. Ueberhuber, "Stability properties of implicit Runge-Kutta methods.," SIAM J. Numel. Anal., vol.22, no.3, pp.497-514, 1985.
- [17] E. Freire, L. Pizarro, A. Rodriguez-Luis, and F. Fernandez-Sanchez, "Multiparametric bifurcations in an enzyme-catalyzed reaction model," International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos, vol.15, no.3, pp.905– 947, 2005.
- [18] J. Guckenheimer and P. Holmes, Nonlinear oscillations, dynamical systems, and bifurcations of vector fields, Springer, 5th printing, 1996.

- [19] J. Guckenheimer and B. Meloon, "Computing periodic orbits and their bifurcations with automatic differentiation," SIAM J. Sci. Comput., vol.22, no.3, pp.951–985, 2000.
- [20] E. Hairer and G. Wanner, "Stiff differential equations solved by Radau methods," Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, vol.111, no.1-2, pp.93–111, 1999.
- [21] A. Hodgkin and A. Huxley, "A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve," Bulletin of Mathematical Biology, vol.52, no.1, pp.25–71, 1990.
- [22] H. Ito and A. Kumamoto, "Locating Fold Bifurcation Points Using Subspace Shooting," IEICE Trans. Fundamentals of Electronics, Communications and Computer Sciences, vol.81, no.9, pp.1791–1797, 1998.
- [23] E. Jackson, Perspectives of nonlinear dynamics 1-2, Cambridge University Press, 1990.
- [24] B. Krauskopf, H. Osinga, E. Doedel, M. Henderson, J. Guckenheimer, A. Vladimirsky, M. Dellnitz, and O. Junge, "A survey of methods for computing (un) stable manifolds of vector fields," Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos, vol.15, no.3, pp.763–791, 2005.
- [25] Y. Kuznetsov, Elements of applied bifurcation theory, Springer, 2004.
- [26] P. Linsay, "Period doubling and chaotic behavior in a driven anharmonic oscillator," Physical Review Letters, vol.47, no.19, pp.1349–1352, 1981.
- [27] W. London and J. Yorke, "Reccurent outbreakes of measles, chickenpox and mumps I. SEASONAL VARIATION IN CONTACT RATES 1," American Journal of Epidemiology, vol.98, no.6, pp.453-468, 1973.
- [28] H. Lumbantobing and T. Haaker, "On the parametric excitation of some nonlinear aeroelastic oscillators," Journal of Fluids and Structures, vol.19, no.2, pp.221–237, 2004.
- [29] K. Lust, "Improved numerical Floquet multipliers," International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos, vol.11, no.9, pp.2389–2410, 2001.

- [30] K. Lust and D. Roose, "An Adaptive Newton-Picard Algorithm with Subspace Iteration for Computing Periodic Solutions," SIAM J. Sci. Comput., vol.19, no.4, pp.1188-1209, 1998.
- [31] S. Murashige, "Boundary conditions for numerical stability analysis of periodic solutions of ordinary differential equations," IEICE Trans. Fundamentals., vol.E91-A, no.4, pp.1162–1168, 2008.
- [32] J. Nagumo, S. Arimoto, and S. Yoshizawa, "An active pulse transmission line simulating nerve axon," Proc. IRE, vol.50, no.10, pp.2061–2070, 1962.
- [33] Y. Nureki and S. Murashige, "Improvement of the multiple shooting method for stability analysis of periodic orbits of ordinary differential equations," International Symposium on Nonlinear Theory and its Applications, 2008. preprint.
- [34] E. Ott, "Strange attractors and chaotic motions of dynamical systems," Reviews of Modern Physics, vol.53, no.4, pp.655-671, 1981.
- [35] N. PERKINS, "Modal interactions in the non-linear response of elastic cables under parametric/external excitation," International journal of non-linear mechanics, vol.27, no.2, pp.233-250, 1992.
- [36] C. Robinson, Dynamical Systems: Stability, Symbolic Dynamics, and Chaos, CRC Press, 1999.
- [37] D. Roose, K. Lust, A. Champneys, and A. Spence., "A Newton-Picard shooting method for computing periodic solutions of large-scale dynamical systems," Chaos, Solitons and Fractals, vol.5, no.10, pp.1913–1925, 1995.
- [38] L. Ruby, "Applications of the Mathieu equation," American Journal of Physics, vol.64, p.39, 1996.
- [39] I. Schwartz, "Estimating Regions of Existence of Unstable Periodic Orbits Using Computer-Based Techniques," SIAM J. Numer. Anal., vol.20, no.1, pp.106–120, 1983.
- [40] I. Shimada and T. Nagashima, "A numerical approach to ergodic problem of dissipative dynamical systems," Prog. Theor. Phys., vol.61, no.6, pp.1605–1616, 1979.
- [41] J. Sinai and E. Vul, "Discovery of closed orbits of dynamical systems with the use of computers," Journal of Statistical Physics, vol.23, no.1, pp.27-47, 1980.
- [42] S. Smale, "On the differential equations of species in competition," Journal of Mathematical Biology, vol.3, no.1, pp.5-7, 1976.
- [43] A. Stuart and A. Humphries, Dynamical systems and numerical analysis, Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [44] B. van der Pol and J. van der Mark, "Frequency demultiplication," Nature, vol.120, no.3019, p.363, 1927.
- [45] S. Wiggins, Introduction to Applied Nonlinear Systems and Chaos, Springer, Berlin, 1990.
- [46] J. Yorke, N. Nathanson, G. Pianigiani, and J. Martin, "Seasonality and the requirements for perpetuation and eradication of viruses in populations," American Journal of Epidemiology, vol.109, no.2, pp.103–123, 1979.